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Your Society Needs YOU! 
THERE HAS NEVER been a better time to be a Civic Society.  Gone are the days when protest was a 

necessary prelude to being heard.  Our views are in high demand, and our role is evolving.  But, like 

many voluntary organisations, we struggle, alongside our commitments, to find and engage new 

people to man the broad range of our activities.  Do so, we must, if we are to do more things. 

Pann Mill, our flagship, serves an ongoing and worthy purpose.  We love it.  The people of High 

Wycombe love it.  Our Open Days are highlights of the town‟s calendar.  But we are increasingly 

dependent upon a few key individuals to keep it going.  We need to find and train the next generation 

of volunteer millers.  We need someone with the right background to do our future risk assessments, 

and we need to entice more enthusiasts to join our gardening team (although it looks great right now!). 

Should we also be doing more to support Civic Voice initiatives?  I think so.  This year we will mark 

Civic Day on 20th June, and we are planning a competition in the run-up to it.  Look out for details in 

May!  But sadly, we have not had the capacity to respond to many other Civic Voice initiatives of late. 

There are several exciting reasons to be “Keeping an eye on the Rye” this 

year.  We need you ALL please to help promote our various events especially 

our celebratory Big Picnic on the Rye on Sunday 9th August, an opportunity to 

involve more of our fellow townspeople.  We have a related photographic 

exhibition in the wings, too, but with a venue yet to be determined. 

Before that, I hope to see you at our AGM on 20th May.  Included in the AGM papers are nomination 

forms for trustees.  Please consider if you (or someone you know) might be able to serve the Society in 

this way.  All the current officers and most of the trustees are willing to serve again, but we would 

welcome two or three additional trustees to share the workload and enable us to do more. 

There are also some supporting roles which can be undertaken without becoming a trustee.  Is there a 

willing minutes-taker anywhere?  Or a graphic designer keen to help with publicity?  Or a would-be 

webmaster who would enjoy supporting our new website?  Perhaps it is time to review the future of this 

publication.  Would you like to join the Editorial team or succeed me as The Editor?  In short, if there‟s 

a job you‟d like to do (or you know someone else you think could help) then let us know! 

Jackie Kay 
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Planning This Quarter 

ONCE AGAIN, the quarter marked the passing, on 12th January, of a much-valued colleague.  Chris 

Watson, whom most of us had last seen at Trevor Carter‟s funeral just a few months ago, had joined us 

in 2011 as soon as he stood down as a District Councillor, where he had served as Cabinet Member for 

Housing; he was quickly appointed by acclamation as the Group‟s new leader, a task which he tackled 

with great enthusiasm until he had to stand down due to his health.  Whilst we still need more Group 

members, we have been delighted to welcome Roger File, a resident of Bassetsbury Lane, who first 

approached us about the current condition of the neighbouring Bassetsbury Manor (see below).  

Meanwhile, Wycombe District Council‟s extensive programme of consultation about the manner of the 

development of the five reserve housing sites has moved up a notch and kept many of us very busy – 

even eating into our weekends. 

Local Plan and the Reserve Sites 

As foreshadowed in our Winter issue, Wycombe 

District Council has moved quickly to get 

consultation underway about how the reserve 

sites should be developed, the aim being to 

prepare a Planning Brief for each site before the 

developers lose patience and submit planning 

applications which, if the Council refused them, 

would quickly move to appeals where we would 

all have much less control over the outcome. 

Accordingly, a Liaison Group has been set up for 

each site, with Andy Cole representing us on the 

Terriers Farm Group, myself, assisted by Janet 

Tully, on the Gomm Valley Group, and Andrew 

Taylor on the group for Abbey Barn North and 

South.  There will also be a group to look at 

infrastructure (transport links, schools etc).  

Each group (except for Infrastructure) has now 

met and it is clear that the timetable is tight, 

with developers expecting to submit applications 

– which must take account of the completed 

Planning Briefs – by the end of the year. 

Meanwhile, the Council ran all-day Saturday 

„workshops‟, at which the public were 

encouraged to work up their priorities for each 

site and, by the end of the day, to set out how 

they would like the development on each site to 

be arranged.  These workshops were managed 

by WDC‟s contractors AR Urbanism, with two 

remarkable qualified architects/urban designers 

as „facilitators‟: the personable antipodean 

Director, Amanda Reynolds, and the dashing 

Riccardo Bobisse from Italy.  They have set up a 

special website, www.wycombe-reserve-sites.org, 

and, as we go to press, this now contains the 

results of the Gomm Valley and Terriers Farm 

workshops and some lively subsequent 

discussions. 

There is still a great deal of bitterness in the air 

about the Council‟s decision to release the sites.  

In fact, as many have commented, it is doubtful 

whether the workshop process has come up with 

much new, and AR‟s write-ups do not really 

reflect the wide range of views.  The Gomm 

Valley & Ashwells exercise brought 

understandable clouds of suspicion from the 

north (Tylers Green & Ashwells) end of the site, 

because the land there is actually owned by the 

District Council, whose Property arm will be 

seeking to sell it for a maximum return (well, 

„best value‟, they say!) while the Planning arm 

will aim for the best result in planning and 

amenity terms – a clear conflict of interest where 

we can only hope that our Council discharge 

their planning responsibilities properly.  For that 

site, the workshop revealed a considerable 

spread of opinion, from those who favoured 

protecting the bottom of the valley as a shared 

open space, with housing up the sides, to one 

table which observed that the bottom of the 

valley is where the houses would be least 

conspicuous and that concentrating develop-

ment there could keep the valley sides green. 

The Terriers Farm workshop was a more muted 

affair with history playing its part.  Did you 

know, for example, that an ancient drovers‟ way 

passes to the east of the site, no doubt 

connecting with the „British Way‟ which climbs 

up on the west side of Amersham Hill?  That is a 

feature which everyone wants to protect, and 

there was also an interesting range of views 

about where the entrance to the site should be – 

on Kingshill Road to the south-east, or even on 

to Amersham Road. 

It will be for the Liaison Groups, at their second 

meetings, to take stock of the output of the 

workshops and take work forward towards their 

final Planning Briefs, which will constrain the 

developers and, indeed, the Council‟s Planning 

Committee when they consider the planning 

applications that are submitted. 

Uplands  In our Autumn issue we celebrated the 

fact that Uplands, once a hotel and more 

recently a conference centre run by De Vere, had 

been listed Grade II, thanks to the efforts of the 

Chiltern Society and others.  Concern has now 

been expressed that the site appears to be 

disused, and measures may need to be taken to 

avoid unauthorised entry and damage. 

The Town Centre  The Council‟s work to tidy up 

St Mary Street with new surfaces to make it 

attractive to pedestrians (part of the so-called 

Public Realm Initiative) is now complete.  Do let 

us know what you think about it. 
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Enforcement – Bassetsbury Manor and the 
Halfway House 

On 13th January, the Planning Group met with 

WDC‟s Director of Planning & Sustainability, 

Penelope Tollitt, and Planning Officer Charles 

Power, for a briefing on the P&S division‟s 

enforcement work.  Two cases of great interest 

to us are currently the subject of enforcement 

measures.   One is the block of flats on the site 

of the former Halfway House on London Road, 

which departed sharply from the approved (and 

generally acceptable) plans when it was built.  

WDC are using all the means available to them 

to force the developer to make good this defect.  

The other case concerns Bassetsbury Manor, 

now owned by Crown House School (formerly on 

London Road), where the Bassetsbury Lane 

frontage is currently despoiled by ugly heavy 

gates (which it is hoped are temporary), an 

additional high fence has been built on the site, 

and it seems that the owners are content to use 

the main driveway as a car park.  Bassetsbury 

Manor is a Grade II listed building, and the 

Council and their conservation staff are on to the 

case.  This was a very useful meeting, but we 

shall be doing our best to ensure that the cases 

that we raised are followed up effectively. 

And assorted planning applications of course!  

One that has interested us over the past couple 

of months concerns a development to the rear of 

Rectory Avenue in the Amersham Hill 

Conservation Area.  This is for five, now reduced 

to four, new dwellings, built in a modern style, 
behind Nos. 38 to 48.  It has attracted 

considerable attention from local residents, 

some of whom feel that the architectural style is 

out of keeping with the Conservation Area which 

is mainly in the late 19th/early 20th century 

“Arts and Crafts” style.  The Planning Group, 

with the benefit of a qualified architect in our 

ranks, has taken the view that this is not out of 

place, indeed that it is exciting and to be 

welcomed.  We did however protest about the 

initial proposal for the development to be 

“gated”.  This would have been an ugly and 

divisive feature in the neighbourhood and, we 

believe, totally unnecessary.  We are very glad 

that the application has been amended to 

remove this feature. 

Another application that concerned us is a 

proposal to develop “Mentmore” in the 

Greenway (above the museum). The Greenway is 

a pleasant road, albeit now with a mix of 

architectural styles, and in our view the proposal 

would have been a gross overdevelopment of the 

site, and damaging to neighbours.  We have 

lodged our objection. 

Chris Woodman  

An unusual Planning Application 
In December Wycombe Abbey submitted a planning application which was well-

received by our Planning group and especially by those with an interest in our 

heritage.  The plan, which includes the drawing reproduced on our front page 

and can be viewed online (ref 14/08247/FUL and 14/08248/LBC), is to replace 

the ugly wooden gates at the Boat House corner of the Rye and to restore the 

historic War Office railings on either side.  It is hoped that the work will go 

ahead in April.  We understand that Lord Carrington has accepted an invitation 

to inaugurate the gates on the afternoon of Tuesday 19th May.  There will be a 

Service in All Saints‟ Parish Church later on that day to commemorate the 

centenary of Viscount Wendover‟s death and other local casualties of WWI.  

Members interested in attending would be welcome.  

 

 

ANTAS brings together our own Society with 20 

other sister societies in Bucks, Herts and Oxford.  

We meet up twice a year to exchange 

information and to hear speakers on matters of 

common interest.  For some years now, I have 

been its webmaster.  The next meeting is at 

Potters Bar on 25th April, starting at 10.00am 

(preceded by coffee and followed by an optional 

lunch for networking – find more information at 

www.antas.org.uk).  ANTAS does its job very 

well, and Civic Voice have held us up as an 

example of a good and effective “sub-regional 

amenity organisation”.  (“Sub-regional” means 

bigger than just one town but smaller than the 

whole of the South-East.)  Our speaker on 25th  

April will be Charles Campion who will speak 

about „Collaborative Planning‟, a publication 

which aims to breathe life into the provisions of 

the Government‟s NPPF (National Planning 

Policy Framework) relating to „localism‟ – an 

idea which most of us feel was always over-sold 

and has never really delivered.  If there is a way 

to make localism real, then perhaps Charles will 

be able to tell us how to go about it!   

All are welcome.  If you are interested in going, 

then please contact the Hon. Secretary and ask 

to join our Society‟s delegation. 

Chris Woodman 

http://www.antas.org.uk/
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Future Rail Outlook 
THE BUCKS AND Thames Valley Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) have applied for significant funds 

to examine a business case for improving the rail link between High Wycombe and Aylesbury as well as 

the case for re-instating the link between High Wycombe and Bourne End (a long-term aim of the 

Society).  The LEPs are part of a new government strategy to promote economic development and 

growth, and now set the agenda for the Local Transport Authority – in our case BCC.  The economic 

benefits of a reliable frequent non-road link between Aylesbury and the Thames Valley have been 

persuasive here.  This is a budgetary request, and, as we go to press, we do not yet know the outcome 

of the application. 

On a more certain note, one 

of the biggest innovations to 

make High Wycombe an 

even better public transport 

hub in the near future will 

be the forthcoming rail 

connection to Oxford.  This 

is scheduled to open with 

the September timetable 

this year.  Trains will run 

from Marylebone to High 

Wycombe, then to Bicester 

where, via a new curve, they will run on an 

upgraded existing line to Islip and into a new 

station to be called Oxford Parkway next to 

Water Eaton park-and-ride. 

From this park-and-ride site there are already 

frequent buses to all parts of Oxford and the 

Oxford Hospitals.  A new station on the route, 

Bicester Town, will serve Bicester Village 

shopping centre, a very popular destination. 

The 100mph trains should do the journey in 

about 35 minutes.  Next 

year the trains will continue 

to the main Oxford station 

when it has been re-built 

and enlarged with extra 

platforms. 

Meanwhile, Network Rail 

are already planning to 

vastly upgrade the rail line 

from High Wycombe to 

Aylesbury (notwithstanding 

the outstanding budgetary 

request referred to above).  As anyone who 

currently travels this way will know, the section 

from Princes Risborough to Aylesbury is very 

slow with single track and that limits the 

frequency of service.  This route will however join 

High Wycombe to the east–west rail line north of 

Aylesbury, which will link Oxford to Milton 

Keynes and Bedford and eventually Cambridge.  

This line is in the process of being re-opened. 

Nigel Phillips 

Calling for a Low Emission Zone 
THE SOCIETY‟S TRANSPORT group has embarked on a constructive dialogue with Wycombe District 

Council about Air Quality in the centre of High Wycombe.  Concerned about possible pollution levels 

from buses emitting high levels of diesel fumes, a recognised serious risk to health, it has called for 

consideration of a 'Low Emission Zone' including Church St, Oxford St and Frogmore.  WDC has for 

some time been considering declaring an Air Quality Management Area for the town centre; this would 

be a necessary first step before a Low Emission Zone could become policy. 

WDC already have an Air Quality Management 

page on their website on which they publish 

regular reports of the monitoring of pollution 

levels.  A detailed assessment of air quality in 

High Wycombe was undertaken back in 2010.  

The Air Quality Management area set up at that 

time was in response to the need to monitor 

levels of nitrogen dioxide prevalent in the M40 

corridor.  It does not extend as far as the town 

centre. 

With regard to „particulates‟ present in diesel 

fumes, WDC have informed us that the 

Department for the Environment Food and Rural 

Affairs (Defra) carried out a consultation last 

year, and is expected to be providing 

clarification and guidelines to local authorities 

on their role in tackling pollution levels. 

In the meantime WDC are considering additional 

monitoring of pollution and the Transport Group 

have also spent some time discussing the 

possibilities of finding alternative routes for 

buses to avoid Church St, a difficult task. 

It is hoped that a Low Emission Zone could at 

least cause bus operators to examine the 

emission levels of their fleets and to replace 

older buses with more modern, less polluting, 

vehicles. 
Information supplied by Arnie Parr 

P.S. Reviewing the routes of buses through our town 

centre has also been exercising the minds of some 

of our Planning Group.  Following her article in the 

Winter newsletter, Heather Morley has composed a 

short questionnaire to obtain feedback on her views.  

If you would be willing to answer 10 questions on 

your views on the town centre, please contact via 

newslettereditor@highwycombesociety.org.uk.  We 

hope it will soon also be possible to download a 

copy of the questionnaire from our website. 

Artist’s impression of the new Oxford Parkway 
station due to open in September. 
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Behind the Scenes 

Bust the Myths! 
EDIE PUSEY WAS a nurse at Wycombe District Hospital.  In 1985 she had the 

vision to set up a hospice to provide support for those with life-limiting illnesses 

and their carers.  Edie Pusey House on Amersham Road is part of the South 

Bucks Hospice and was the venue for the latest of our Behind-the-Scenes visits on 

Friday 13th February. 

The hospice movement 

developed in this country 

in the 1950s from the 

Marie Curie homes with a 

marked growth in the 

1980s.  Edie Pusey‟s first 

fund-raiser was a car boot 

sale which raised just £2.85!  From there the 

trust quickly gained support and in 1992 the site 

on Amersham Hill was found and opened in 

1994.  Sadly Edie Pusey died in 1989. 

Edie Pusey House is a day centre and was 

initially open for three days a week.  Now it 

offers therapies and support for five days a week 

starting at 9.30am, with lunch provided for 

those who stay to 3pm. 

Patients are referred by their 

GP or specialist nurse, with 

12 at any one time benefiting 

from the care on offer.  At 

times of pain, anxiety and 

stress, complementary 

therapies can help promote 

relief, a sense of calm and 

better sleep. 

The range offered includes 

acupuncture, aromatherapy, 

reflexology, massage, 

physiotherapy, meditation 

and relaxation.  There are also art classes, yoga, 

music, creative writing and gardening in the 

vegetable plot or greenhouse.  The garden, 

tended by volunteer gardeners, was delightful, 

while the house was light and airy with furniture 

chosen to provide a warm, calm ambience. 

Of those working there, 80% are volunteers but 

this still leaves the need to raise £950,000 per 

annum.  A local business helps with the lunches 

and there are five shops run by South Bucks 

Hospice.  Our High Wycombe Society member 

Eileen Walters has been an energetic fund raiser 

for several years selling tickets for the South 

Bucks Hospice Lottery.  The hospice receives 

very little government funding. 

South Bucks Hospice is now embarking on an 

expansion which will see a new state-of-the-art 

Community Hospice built in Totteridge on a 

former school site.  The work should start this 

year and be completed in 2017.  All the 

activities at the two current sites, Edie Pusey 

House and the Lymphoedema Clinic at 

Hazlemere, will be brought on to one site and 

there will be a wider range of services, available 

to more people including younger patients (18–

25 years old).  The total cost of the project is 

£4.7 million.  A generous 

legacy has contributed £1.8 

million of the £2.7 million 

already raised.  Contributions 

from businesses, groups or 

individuals, either as a one-

off or by regular giving, will 

help enormously. 

Volunteers provide invaluable 

support to patients and their 

families.  They also support 

the hospice in a wide range of 

areas including retail, 

transport, admin, events 

fundraising, warehouse, and 

even internet trading. 

Our thanks go to our guide Mary-Ann for such a 

warm welcome and a most informative visit.  For 

further information on fund raising or 

volunteering she can be reached by email at 

Mary-ann.leader@sbhospice.org.uk 

or by phone on the Edie Pusey House number, 

01494 537775.  More information is available 

on their lively website www.sbhospice.org.uk 

Mary Woodman

Membership Renewal, Membership Cards and Proof of Membership 
HOW MANY OF you can locate your current Membership Cards?  I lost mine very shortly after the AGM 

last year and it hasn‟t been a problem!  As many of you have observed, they have become redundant.  

The Programme Listing, which used to be an integral part of the Card, is now issued quite separately 

at the start of the calendar year.  We have taken the logical decision therefore this year not to issue 

membership cards, saving not just on printing costs but also on postage to members who renew by 

Standing Order.  Please note you will now not receive an acknowledgement of renewal unless you 

request it.  But if you do need proof of membership for any reason, please contact Sheila Fooks, our 

ongoing membership secretary, who will be able to issue a subscription receipt.  (The receipt might 

look remarkably like last year‟s membership card until the stock of card is used up!) 

Jackie Kay 

Edith Pusey – a nurse 
with vision. 

Visitors received a warm welcome and much 
interesting information from guide, Mary Ann 

Photo: Chris Woodman 
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Christ Church, Crendon Street, 1873-1966 
FEW PEOPLE who came to Wycombe after 1966 will have heard of Christ Church, Crendon Street.  

It was demolished at a time when many of Wycombe‟s older buildings were cleared to make way for 

modernity and road widening.  There is not a brick left and its fabric, memorials and furnishings 
seem to have disappeared without trace but there are several photographs of both the exterior and 

interior in the „SWOP‟ archive.  Christ Church was situated half way up Crendon Lane (later Street) 

on the right, going towards the station.  Directly opposite it were the Friends‟ Meeting House and 

the Crendon Lane Congregational Chapel. 

Thanks to a short history by a former librarian 

(K W Dun) and to a folder of letters, papers and 

a memoir by a member in 1949 which I have 

collected together in All Saints‟ parish church 

archives, here is a brief history.  But if there 

are readers who remember Christ Church it 

would be good to have any corrections and 

memories. 

The church was founded 

on 30th November 1873 
with an inaugural 

service in the Friends‟ 

Meeting House.  It is 

likely that its 

congregation was drawn 

from the Low Church 

members of the parish 

church, including some 

of the Wheeler family.  

After three months of 

services at the Friends‟, 

the members decided 

that they were 

sufficiently established 
to join the Free Church 

of England which had 

been created in 1863 by 

break-away evangelical 

and Low Church clergy.  

A Committee which 

included Francis 

Wheeler (Treasurer) and 

George Wheeler (church 

warden and thrice 

mayor) was established.  

In September 1874 

Thomas Wheeler (also 

thrice mayor) leased a 
plot of land on the 

opposite side of Crendon 

Lane, at a nominal £10 

p.a for the erection of an 

iron church building.  It 

was opened on 25th 

February 1875 and on the same day the first 

minister was appointed at a salary of £200 p.a. 

and four weeks annual leave.  Not surprisingly 

the church became known as “The Wheelers‟ 

Church” though its real name was „The Free 

Church of England in Wycombe‟.  The name 

„Christ Church‟ was adopted in 1883.  A 

Sunday school was started in April 1875 in the 
Meeting House and adjoining cottage which the 

Committee rented from the Friends on a lease 

of 42 years from 1879. 

The church prospered and in the 1880s there 

was talk of building a permanent church.  

Thomas Wheeler offered to give the land on 

which the iron church stood and plans for a 

church to seat 450-

500 people, and to 

cost no more than 

£2000, were drawn 
up.  Five architects 

submitted plans.  

Arthur Vernon‟s 

design for a red brick 

and stone building in 

13th century style 

with chancel, nave, 

aisle, porch and tower 

won the contract.  

The foundation stone 

was laid on 18th June 

1888 by Thomas 

Wheeler and the 

church opened for 
worship in April 

1889.  The total cost 

was £2660 plus £300 

for a new organ. 

Relations with the 

parish church seem 

to have been fairly 

amicable.  One of the 

ministers in the mid 

1880s had sounded 

out the Vicar of All 

Saints‟ on the 

possibility of Christ 

Church joining the 
established church 

but this came to 

nothing as the 

Committee was 

opposed.  The idea 

was revived a few 

years later and this time they agreed, the 

Bucks Free Press speculating on 19th April 

1895 that one reason was the need for a united 

Protestant front to counter the threat of the 

proposed Roman Catholic church to be built in 

the town.  Christ Church was licensed by the 

Bishop of Oxford in March 1895 to perform 

Church of England services and in July 1896 
the church was consecrated by him. 

Pictures in the SWOP collection. 
Courtesy of High Wycombe Library. 
Above: external view circa 1950 (RHW:12423) 

Below:.internal view circa 1937 (RHW:12424) 
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The creation of a new parish and its 

boundaries (known as „assignment of District 

Chaplery‟) was much more difficult and at 

times acrimonious.  It took over 3 years of 

meetings, inspections and correspondence 

from November 1893 to 

March 1897.  The main 

players were Christ 

Church Committee –the 

Trustees led by George 

Wheeler, who was angling 

to become the Patron of 

Christ Church just as 
Lord Carrington was 

Patron of All Saints;  the 

Rev E. D. Shaw, Vicar of 

All Saints who was much 

exercised by the potential 

loss of part of his parish; 

the Bishop of Oxford who 

was happy to add a new 

church to his diocese; the  

Ecclesiastical 

Commissioners who 

designated new parishes 

and Earl Carrington who 

feared „a grave public 
scandal‟ would be „inevitable‟ if the 

parishioners of the proposed new parish were 

not consulted.  The Vicar tried to involve the 

Archbishop of Canterbury, His Grace replying 

in a hand-written letter, urging concessions on 

all sides.  (“I have no 

power to do more.”) 

Eventually boundaries 

were agreed and the 

Ecclesiastical 

Commissioners sent the 

proposal in March 1897 

to the Privy Council for 

ratification by an Order 
of Her Majesty in 

Council and publication 

in the London Gazette.  

It was a small parish 

bounded by Crendon 

Street to the west, the 

Great Western railway 

line to the north 

(including the station), 

the line of Saffron Road 

to the east and Easton 

Street to the south, in 

all a rectangle of about 17 acres, 116 houses 

and 500-550 souls.  The existing Trustees of 
Christ Church became The Patron providing 

£1000 towards the establishment of the 

benefice, a vicarage (Christ Church Lodge) and 

church school.  Patronage was transferred to 

the Church Pastoral Aid Society in 1926.  The 

Vicar was to be a curate at All Saints‟, but this 

did not happen, so the two churches continued 

as separate parishes until 1966. 

Christ Church prospered, constructing in 1927 

a Memorial School (in memory of those who 

died in WW1) near where 

the Post Office sorting 

office now is, and with 

the full panoply of 

Anglican services, 

Sunday school and choir.  

From October 1914 to 

February 1915 Ivor 

Gurney was the organist. 

In 1930 the 17th century 

Friends Meeting House 

and the 18th century 

Congregational Chapel, 

opposite Christ Church, 

were both demolished for 

road widening.  Both 

buildings had ceased to 

be used for their original 

purposes.  The Friends 

had already moved, and 

would eventually move 

again to their current 

location on the London Road in 1931; and the 
congregation at the Crendon Lane Chapel as 

early as 1883 had merged with that of the 

Trinity Chapel opposite Pann Mill.  For some 

time the Crendon Lane chapel had continued 

to be used by 

Congregationalists for 

Sunday school and 

other related activities 

but was then sold, the 

funds being used to 

build Crendon Hall, and, 

immediately prior to 

demolition, the chapel 

was in use as a Labour 
exchange. 

The writing was soon on 

the wall for Christ 

Church.  In the early 

1960s it became obvious 

that with a falling 

congregation the future 

lay in the parish being 

re-absorbed into that of 

All Saints‟.  In 1966, 

after only 77 years, the 

church was demolished, the land, church hall 

and the Memorial School sold.  The disposal of 

the furnishings was left to the discretion of the 
Parochial Church Council and the funds 

transferred to All Saints‟. Two brass plaques, 

one to George Wheeler (d 1921) and one to his 

wife Bertha (d 1927) were deposited in All 

Saints‟, and are now kept on the roof of the 

toilet block! 

David Snoxell 

 

In All Saints’ archives, a sketch map shows the 
agreed Parish bounded by the railway, Crendon St, 
Easton St and Saffron Road.  Christ church school is 
shown at that time on the West of Crendon St.  Also 
within the parish at its South Eastern corner is The 
Trinity Congregational Chapel known today as the 

United Reformed Church. 

Christ Church Memorial School was built on Queen 
Victoria Road.  The land was transferred to Christ 
church parish as a ‘detached portion’. 
SWOP Photo Courtesy of High Wycombe library  
ref RHW: 14005 shows the adjacent newly built council 
offices beyond. 
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Jacob Popp (1873-1939)

JACOB IVANOVITCH POPP was born in 1873 at Pernau, a port in the Gulf of Riga, now in Estonia 

but at that time part of the Baltic province in Tsarist Russia.  Popp was his original Russian 

surname.  His parents were wealthy Russian landowners, and subsequently his mother was shot in 

the Revolution.  Jacob received his schooling in St Petersburg. 

In 1891 when he was 18 Jacob decided to 

come to England; it is not known why.  Early in 

1899 he married Philadelphia Priscilla Moon at 

Sevenoaks in Kent.  The couple went on to 
have four daughters, all born in Wycombe, 

Rino P in 1901, Ena P in 1903, Grace E in 

1909 and Gladys M in 1911. 

By April 1901 the family had moved to 

Wycombe.  Jacob was living at 23 Frogmoor 

Gardens, but his wife was working as a 

domestic cook in the Bourne End home of 

Robert Humphreys, a Solicitor, where she was 

„living-in‟.  The Census listed Jacob as a 

Newsagent, and as working 'on his own 

account, at home'.  Staying with him was his 

wife‟s sister Annie and her husband Albert 

Kellaway, whose occupation was described as 

'independent'.  Presumably this means that he 
had 'private means', that is an independent 

source of income, and he may therefore have 

helped Jacob to establish his business venture.  

He certainly managed the shop when Jacob 

was away.  Albert had married Philadelphia‟s 

sister Annie Moon in Maidstone, Kent in late 

1898. 

 

Jacob Popp, ‘a man of fine physique’, standing outside 
his shop. 

Photo Courtesy of the Bucks Free Press 
SWOP ref BFP 01783 

Jacob, by now universally known as Jack, was 

described as a man of fine physique and 

constitution, fully 6ft in height.  He was a keen 

cyclist and motor cyclist, and an active 
Freemason.  He had command of eight 

languages, and also worked as a courier for 

Thomas Cook's foreign holidays.  This allowed 

him to buy novelties in the countries he visited, 

which he added to his trading stock. 

Jacob soon diversified his business into selling 

tobacco, cigarettes and sweets.  It was not long 

before the events started to occur which made 

Jacob Popp a hero not only in Wycombe, but 

also nationally, and then internationally.  Let 

Jacob himself take up the story, told in an 
interview with the correspondent of the New 

York Times in March 1908: 

“I came to High Wycombe and acquired a 

business at this little shop.  After a time I 

began to open on Sundays and did a good 

trade.  Then, one Sunday afternoon the head 

constable came in and said that unless I closed 

up I would be summonsed.  I declined to close, 

with the result that a summons was issued 

against me on Monday”.  [This would have 

been 21st January 1902]  

It was taken out under the statute of Charles II 

and charged that “Jacob Popp on a certain 

date, being the Lord's Day, commonly called 
Sunday, did at Chepping Wycombe unlawfully 

do and exercise certain labour, business and 

work in the ordinary calling of a tobacconist 

and confectioner, the same not being work of 

necessity or charity.  I paid 15 shillings, 

including costs, and since then regularly every 

Monday get my summons.'' 

In plain words, Jacob Popp had been fined for 

trading on a Sunday.  It was true that an Act of 

1677 banned the public sale of goods on a 

Sunday, but this was widely ignored in the 19th 

century.  In 1871 prosecutions under the 1677 

Act required the written authority of a Chief 

Constable, Magistrate, or two Justices of the 
Peace. 

There was evidently no lack of authorisations 

for prosecutions against Jacob Popp, because 

these continued every week for 8 years, a total 

of more than 450 convictions at the fortnightly 

Petty Sessions.  He never disputed the police 

evidence, so his conviction was always 

concluded quickly, allowing Popp to return to 

serve in his shop. 

For the first two and a half years Popp was 

generally fined 5s with 10s costs, but after that 

the costs were normally reduced to 2s and 6p, 

maybe a reduction for a regular subscriber!  

The alternative to paying the fine and costs 
was 2 hours in the stocks, or 7 days in gaol.  

Popp apparently asked to be put in the stocks 

for 2 hours, but they had long since been 

removed and although he asked for them to be 

replaced, the magistrates would not agree. 

When he received his first summons in 

January 1902 Mr Popp displayed it in his shop 

window with the heading 'King Charles is after 
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me'!  The prosecutions became an on-going 

weekly drama, drawing large crowds to the 

shop and widespread publicity, mostly 

sympathetic to Jacob.  Of course as you will 

have concluded Jacob found that all this 

publicity meant that the takings in the shop 

increased dramatically.  It is said that coach 

parties from all parts of the country would stop 

on a Sunday morning to allow a look at 'JIP'.  

In different interviews he variously claimed 

takings of between £20 and 30, or between £40 

and 50, every Sunday! 

He generated further takings for his business 
by publishing a set of 6 postcards presenting a 

satirical account of his prosecutions.  These 

consisted of an artistic drawing of the various 

events, with a commentary in verse to each 

one.  It is thought, although not proven, that 

Popp did both the artwork and the 

commentaries. 

 

The third postcard in the series includes a portrait of 
Jacob Popp in the dock. 

Photo Courtesy of the Bucks Free Press 
SWOP Ref BFP 03200 

 

In 1911, the census shows that Jacob was 
living with his family at No 8 Castle St.  So he 

had moved away from the shop in Frogmoor, 

no doubt to escape the crowds which had been 

besieging his shop on a Sunday!  

During the first world war Jacob served as a 

Special Constable and was Section Sergeant of 

the Central Section, which comprised Queens 

Square, Frogmoor Gardens, Bull Lane, Oxford 

St and Oxford Road.  This required using a 

motor cycle to visit the men in his section and 

also to „pay frequent visits to the police station 

to submit any reports and to receive any 

instructions which may be necessary‟. 

His business continued to expand and at one 

time comprised shops in White Hart Street and 
Desborough Road as well as Frogmoor.  He 

subsequently sold the White Hart St shop to 

Reginald Rivett, the founder of the Murray‟s 

department store. 

In June 1924 Jacob had a serious motor cycle 

accident, fracturing his skull and injuring his 

legs, spending 9 weeks in hospital.  He seems 

to have recovered and resumed his active life, 

but in 1937 he banged one of his legs when 

working in the shop, and an ulcer formed.  

Despite hospital treatment further ulcers 

developed, gangrene set-in, and eventually he 

had to have both legs amputated above the 

knee.  But this was to no avail, and he died in 
the early hours of 6th April 1939 aged 65.  An 

inquest was held at High Wycombe Borough 

Police Station later that day and recorded a 

verdict of 'death through misadventure'.  

Jacob was buried at All Saints‟ Church on 

Saturday 8th April.  Following his request no 

mourning (clothes) were worn.  Amongst those 

paying their respects were representatives of 

many local and national newspapers.  His 

obituary included the statement „In many 

walks of life Mr Popp will be missed, 

particularly by many of the poor‟. 

Mike Dewey 

Tools for the Job 
Once upon a time the Wye was a 

free-flowing and powerful river 

used to power over 30 mills.  

With that in mind, in 2007, the 

“Revive the Wye” project began.  As a founding 

partner in the project we were recently 

approached with a request for tools and other 

equipment for use by volunteers.  This provoked 

some lively discussion as your Executive 

Committee examined the wish list to see what 

we could provide.  Consequently we now have a 

stack of loppers, shears, hay and manure forks, 

jerry cans and a wheelbarrow awaiting 

presentation.  In the near future we hope there 

will be a good photo opportunity as our 

Chairman trundles the wheelbarrow and other 

items to an official handover on the Wye 

footpath!  For further information on the project 

see www.revivethewye.org.uk/. 

Malcolm Connell 

The Big Picnic 
SUNDAY 

9TH AUGUST 
12 noon- 4 p.m. 
Dog walker, angler, jogger, footballer, or rower?  

Parents of children that play on the swings?  

Lido user? 

Whatever your reason for caring about the Rye, 

we invite you to help celebrate the survival of 

this Open Space which was nearly lost to a road 

development 50 years ago! 

An event being organised in 

collaboration with the Open 

Spaces Society. 

Bring your own picnic and games. 

A working group has been set up to organise this 

event (Contact Eileen Walters on 449902 for 

more information or if you think you can help) 

http://www.revivethewye.org.uk/
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The Life of a Town Clerk 
BILL REID KNOWS how to engage an audience.  Calling on two “volunteers” to stand accused of 

similar crimes whilst he pronounced dissimilar sentences upon them, as a Mayor could have done 

„in former times‟, was a novel way to grab everyone‟s attention at the start of his talk to the Society 

on Wednesday 21st January.  It was the first Society meeting to be held in our new venue at the 

Riverside, which served us well on a very cold winter evening. 

Whilst some of the audience wanted to know 

exactly when these „former times‟ were, and 

who actually undertook the roles of the police 
and gaolers before the 

advent of our current 

institutions, Bill had made 

his point that the role of 

Town Clerk both emerged 

and evolved alongside the 

changing roles of the 

Mayor and his entourage 

over centuries.  The 

Mayoral party which is 

often seen on ceremonial 

occasions includes a Mace-

Bearer, a Beadle and, 

when required, a Town 
Crier.  The Town Clerk is 

the one who wears the wig. 

In the twenty-first century the roles are 

ceremonial, and the Town Clerk‟s duties 

include the organisation of traditional events 

throughout the year.  From the formal mayor-

making and weighing-in of a new mayor, to the 

„beating of the bounds‟ the following Spring, 

there is a busy calendar of engagements 

requiring meticulous planning.  Two 

organisations have the „Freedom of the Town‟ 

which they periodically exercise.  Last year it 
was the turn of the RAF 

and the ceremony included 

a memorable flypast, 

particularly memorable to 

the Town Clerk for the 

eleventh hour uncertainty 

about whether it would 

happen! 

The annual carol service is 

one of a number of Civic 

Services that the Town 

Clerk organises.  Tradition 

dictates that one Civic 

Service is held in the 
parish which the Mayor 

represents.  In Trevor 

Snaith‟s mayoral year, there was no single 

church large enough in the Wycombe Marsh 

area so the decision was made to hold the Civic 

Service at the Sytner garage on the London 

Road, which presented a number of logistical 

challenges for the Town Clerk. 

Jackie Kay 
 

 

Wycombe’s Wharf ?- the debate continues

COMMENTING IN THE Winter Edition of this newsletter, Tony Mealing argues that it would not 

have made sense to transport goods from Wycombe to Marlow for shipment down the Thames to 

London.  He explains that Marlow Hill was too steep for horse-drawn wagons and that Wycombe 

exports would have been carried along the flat road to Bourne End and shipped from Hedsor Wharf 

or Maidenhead, rather than turning right to Spade Oak Wharf or Marlow. 

The source for Julian Hunt's theory that 

Marlow was Wycombe's Wharf is Daniel Defoe's 

three volume "A Tour through the Whole Island 

of Great Britain".  The second volume was 

published in 1725.  In it Defoe describes Great 

Marlow as "a town of very great embarkation 

on the Thames, not so much for goods wrought 
here (for the town is chiefly in bone-lace) but 

for goods from the neighbouring towns, and 

particularly a very great quantity of malt and 

meal is brought hither from High Wickham, a 

large market town, about __ miles off, which is 

one of the greatest corn markets on this side of 

England, and lies on the road from London to 

Oxford."  Defoe adds "Between High Wickham 

and Marlow is a little river called the Loddon 

on which are a great many mills and 

particularly corn mills and paper mills; the first 

of these grind and dress the wheat and then 

the meal is sent to Marlow and loaded on board 

the barges for London".  I assume by the 

Loddon Defoe meant the Wye.  (The real River 
Loddon is in Berkshire and Hampshire.)  This 
looks fairly conclusive evidence that whichever 

route the goods took most were loaded at 

Marlow, at least in the early eighteenth 
century. 

In the 1760s the Earl of Shelburne moved the 

Marlow road which passed up the valley to the 

east and close to Loakes Manor (Wycombe 

Abbey) to its current position.  It is possible 

that this road was much less steep than 

Marlow Hill and so goods were transported this 

way. 

David Snoxell 

The Town Clerk’s the one with the wig! 
Photo Courtesy of Wycombe Museum 

SWOP Ref:MHW:40209 
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Friends No Longer With Us 

IT HAS BEEN a sad start to the New Year, with news that a number of long-standing members of 

the Society are no longer with us.  Here we publish a selection of the tributes paid to friends and 

colleagues lost. 

Peter Langston 
Although we knew Peter for many years he was 

a very private man and we knew little of his 

family and private life.  What little we knew 
was marked by his devotion to the care of his 

wife. 

He was commited to Sands, as a business man 

and resident, and joined the Sands Residents‟ 

Association, at its foundation in 1992, as a 

member and then committee member.  Then he 

leapt into the breach following the retirement of 

our treasurer in May 2002, a post he held from 

then till now.  He brought sound common 

sense to our discussions and held on to the 

principles he had learnt in a lifetime of 

business.  He was punctilious with the yearly 

accounts and always audited them with our 

previous treasurer. 

He attended all our meetings, delivered more 

newsletters than anyone else and collected the 

subscriptions.  He was very much the face of 

the organisation, happy to call in, talk to 

people and have a cup of tea when asked.  

Everyone knew Peter. 

He could also be ascerbic when he thought we 

were being fed a line by officialdom! 

We shall miss him not only as a friend but 

especially as a valued colleague.  

Kate Phillips, 
Sands Residents’ Association 

Olivia Price 
Olivia Price was a pioneer founder of the High 

Wycombe Society, having met Jack Scruton 
when the Rye Protection Society fought against 

the road across the Rye.  She was an active 

member, supporting the Programme 

Committee, Pann Mill and was even known to 

enjoy our AGMs.  Olivia died on 1st January 
2015.  She will be missed by her many friends. 

Ann Simone 
 

Regular readers of the newsletter may recall 
that in our Spring 2011 edition – now available 
in our online archive - my predecessor as Editor, 
Chris Woodman, included a record of a 
memorable interview with Olivia Price when she 
reminisced about her wartime experience of 
High Wycombe in which she ran two ‘British 
Restaurants’ and served, among other things, 
the legendary ‘Bucks Bacon Badger’. JK 

Norman Belson 
Long-standing member Norman Belson who 

died in December was known to many 

members of the Society particularly in the 
Downley area where he lived and served the 

Society as a volunteer postman.  Norman was a 

schoolmaster who joined the society in its 

infancy in 1969.  He and his widow, Mrs Rita 

Belson have been steadfast supporters of the 

Society over the years since.  Our condolences 

go to Rita, who remains a Society member. 

Roger Lawson 

Chris Watson 
It was a sad time for the Society last year when 

Chris Watson announced that he needed to 

step down both as a trustee and as chairman 

of our Planning Group on health grounds.  

True to form, immediately following his 
diagnosis, he set about planning to make the 

best use of his remaining months of life.  Top of 

his list was a three-week trip to Australia to 

meet for the first time the youngest member of 

his family, taking in also a family holiday in 

Fiji. 

When news of his death was received in 

January, Trustee and Planning Group member 

Neil Timberlake‟s reaction was representative of 

views expressed within the Society: “He was a 

fine man; I quickly came to admire him for his 

quiet erudition, the depth of his knowledge, 

and his unfailing politeness.”  His funeral was 
very well attended by many who knew him in 

his former role as a Wycombe District 

Councillor.  He will be much missed. 

Jackie Kay 

Chris Watson enjoying Christmas 2014 with family 
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Notices 

New Members 

We warmly welcome the following new members: 

Mr & Mrs J G Lewis 

Miss A Farmer 

Mr P Mustow 

Ms S Tribe 

Obituaries 
We regret to inform members of the deaths of: 

Mr Norman Belson* 

Mrs Cecily Pyle 

Mrs Oaten-Wareham 

Mr P Langston* 

Mrs Olivia Price* 

Mr Chris Watson* 

*Tributes on p11 
 
 

 

High Quality BRIC-A-BRAC Sought! 
It’s that time of year again!  Mary Woodman would like 
you please to clear your house of unwanted clutter and 
reserve the best items for her Pann Mill stall!  Phone 
HW528106 and she will gladly collect!  Also, if you 
fancy trying your hand at selling for an hour, she’d be 
pleased to put you on her rota. 

Contributions Please. 

Thanks to all those who have contributed to this 

issue of the Newsletter.  Please send material for 

the next edition addressed to me, Jackie Kay, as 

The Editor at 19 Hepplewhite Close, High 

Wycombe, Bucks HP13 6BZ (Tel: 01494 

534876), or preferably by email to: 

newslettereditor@highwycombesociety.org.uk 

All contributions to the next edition must be 

received by 20th May 2015 

You can also get in touch with the Editorial 

Team via the Society‟s facebook page. 

 
 

DATES FOR YOUR DIARY 

2015  

Tuesday 21st April Behind the Scenes visit to Adams Park.  Please register interest with Eileen 

on HW449902 

Saturday 25th April 

Potters Bar 

ANTAS Spring meeting (see p3 for details).  Charles Campion will 

speak on “Collaborative Planning”. 

Sunday 10th May 

Pann Mill, 11.00 - 5.00 p.m. 

1st Pann Mill Open Day of the Year (National Mills Day) 

Water Trail 2.30 p.m.  Start and Finish at Pann Mill 

Tuesday 19th May Commemoration of Viscount Wendover‟s death – see p 3 

Wednesday 20th May 

The Riverside,  

7.00 p.m. 

Please note earlier time. 

AGM - papers for members are distributed with this newsletter. 

Members and non-members are welcome to attend our AGM which will 

be followed (at 8 p.m.) by our contribution to the Wycombe Arts 

Festival, a talk on „The History of Gardens‟, Speaker: Roger Askew. 

Tuesday 16th June 

Late afternoon/evening 

Behind the Scenes-SPECIAL A look at Marylebone Station.  This visit is 

already over-subscribed.  It is hoped that a second visit will be 

arranged in the Autumn so please still register your interest with Sheila 

Fooks on 526580, and we will do our best to allocate places fairly. 

Saturday 20th June 

The Riverside 

12.00 - 4.00 p.m. 

Civic Day “Meet the High Wycombe Society” event including 

presentation to the winner of our competition. 

Sunday 12th July 

Pann Mill, 11.00 - 5.00 p.m. 

2nd Pann Mill Open Day of the Year 

Water Trail 2.30 p.m.  Start and Finish at Pann Mill. 

Wednesday 15th July 

The Riverside, 7.30 p.m. 

Talk: “150 years of the Open Spaces Society”, Speaker: General 

Secretary of the Open Spaces Society, Kate Ashbrook. 

Sunday 9th August 

The Rye 12.00 - 4.00 p.m. 

The BIG Picnic on the Rye – A Celebration of the achievements of the 

Rye Protection Society (see p 9).  All welcome to bring own picnic. 

Sunday 13th September 

Pann Mill 11.00-5.00 p.m. 

3rd Pann Mill Open Day of the Year (Heritage Open Days weekend). 

Wednesday 21st October 

The Riverside, 7.30 p.m. 

Talk: Mills of High Wycombe, Speaker: Sheila Viner, Mills Archive Trust. 

Saturday 12th December 

The Riverside, 1p.m.- 3 p.m. 

A members‟ get-together with Mulled wine and Mince pies 

 

Put these dates in 

your diary now!!! 

mailto:newslettereditor@highwycombesociety.org.uk

